COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA MAE MATHESON,

· v.

Petitioner/Appellant,

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE;

Respondent/Appellee.

AMENDED OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Kovacevich, #2723 818 W. Riverside Ave, Ste 525 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-2104 Attorney for Petitioner/Appellation

I.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	
PREA	MBLE	TO ARGUMENT10
	A.	Lack of State Control over Indians living on reservations10
	B.	The Indian Cigarette Seizure Campaign
	C.	The 1995 Amendments to the Cigarette Tax Statutes 15
	D.	The MSA Arbitration
	E.	The Compact Agreements18
	F.	Review of litigation to date and reasons they no longer apply
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
III.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	
IV.	The standard of review is to determine from the entire record whether a mistake has been committed. Legal conclusions are reviewed do novo	
	When there is no jurisdiction, a prior adjudication can be challen	

Physical Presence of Cigarettes in this state, without more, cannot be subject to a State cigarette tax causing loss of license to do business
By applying revocation to a non resident, RCW 82.32.215 is unconstitutional as a violation of due process
The state cannot obtain, enforce or have jurisdiction to enter any decree against a tribal Indian. A state court must dismiss or transfer to the tribal court
The Administrative Law Judge Had a Direct Interest as an Employee of The Department of Revenue, The Agency that Brought the License Hearing. Therefore, the Fourteenth Amendment was Violated 45
The administrative officer refused to examine the validity of the judgment which was the only reason the license was revoked47
An Indian living on an Indian Reservation is not subject to State Licensing Laws
The Cumulative Penalty of Revocation violated Due Process 49
The State had no in personam jurisdiction of Matheson
The U.S. Constitution Art. 3, § 2 forbids Washington courts from jurisdiction of tribal Indian cases
Business License Application does not establish jurisdiction 60
CONCLUSION 62

V.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Ancheta v. Daly, 77 Wash.2d 255, 260, 461 P.2d 531 (Wash. 1969)30
Annis v. Dewey County Bank, 335 F.Supp. 133 (D.C.S.D. 1971)
<i>Babbit Ford v. Navajo Indian Tribe</i> , 710 F.2d 587, 594 (9 th Cir. 1983) 42
Barnett v. Ashmore, 5 Wash. 163, 164, 31 P. 466 (Wash. 1892)46
Big Boys Toy, Ltd. v. Limbach, 597 N.E.2d 76, 79 (Ohio 1992)
Bob v. McMinn, U.S.D.C., W.D.Wn. No. 96-5421 RJB, 97-35015 (9th Cir.) (Unreported 1996)
BMW of North America v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 580, 116 S.Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996)
Bowles v. Willingham, 321 U.S. 503, 512, 64 S.Ct. 641, 88 L.Ed. 892 (1944).
<i>Byzewski v. Byzewski</i> , 429 N.W.2d 394, 398 (N.D. 1988)
Cabazon Band of Mission Indians v. Smith, 388 F.3d 691, 701 (9th Cir 2004).
Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 877, 129 S.Ct. 2252, 173 L.Ed. 1208 (2009)
Cates and Erb Logging v. Washington State Tax Commission, U.S.D.C., E.D.Wn. No. C-89-690-RJM (1990)
C.I.R. v. Shapiro, 424 U.S. 614, 629, 96 S.Ct. 1062, 47 L.Ed.2d 278 (1976)
C.I.R. v. Sunnen, 333 U.S. 591, 599, 68 S.Ct. 715, 92 L.Ed. 898 (1948)20

City of New York v. Gordon, 2013 WL 2190060 *5 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) 14
City of New York v. Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc., 2012 WL 3579568 *18 (D.C.S.D. NY 2012)
Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. Hammond, 384 F.3d 674, 682 (9 th Cir. 2004) 21
Commonwealth Brands v. Morgan, 110 So.3d 752, 760 (Miss. 2013).
Confederated Tribes of the Yakama Indian Nation v. Gregoire, 658 F.3d 1078, 1088 (9 th Cir. 2011)
Consolidated Coal v. Porterfield, 267 N.E.2d 304, 307-8 (Ohio 1971)35
Container Corp. of America v. Franchise Tax Board, 463 U.S. 159, 165-66, 103 S.Ct. 2933, 77 L.Ed.2d 545 (1983)
Cougar Mt. Assocs. v. King County, 111 Wash.2d 742, 747, 765 P.2d 264 (1988)
Cree v. Flores, 157 F.3d 762, 774 (9th Cir. 1998)
Cubanski v. Heckler, 794 F.2d 540, 546 (9th Cir. 1986)
Daimler AG v. Bauman, 134 S.Ct. 746 (Jan. 14, 2014)
Donaldson v. Winningham, 48 Wash. 374, 377, 93 P. 534 (Wash. 1908)21
Doyle v. Continental Ins. Co., 94 U.S. 535, 543, 4 Otto 535, 24 L.Ed. 148 (1876)
Farm Supply Distributors v. Washington Utilities, 83 Wash.2d 446, 451, 518 P.2d 1237 (Wash. 1974)
Figueroa v. Delgado, 359 F.2d 718, 720 (1st Cir. 1966)

Franchise Tax Board of California v. Hyatt, 538 U.S. 488, 498, 123 S.Ct. 1683, 155 L.Ed.2d 702 (2003)
Francisco v. State, 556 P.2d 1, 4 (Ariz. 1976)
Galesburg Eby-Brown Co. v. Department of Revenue, 497 N.E.2d 874, 876 (III 1986)
Governor of Connecticut and Moheagan Indians, 126 London (1743)10
<i>Grider v. Cavazos</i> , 911 F.2d 1158, 1164 (5 th Cir. 1990)
Hardee v. State Department of Social and Health Services, 172 Wash.2d 1, 6, 256 P.3d 339 (Wash. 2011)
Harders Express v. New York State Tax Commission, 402 N.Y.S.2d 721 (NY1987)
<i>Hart v. Massanari</i> , 266 F.3d 1155, 1171 (9 th Cir. 2001)
Heiner v. Donnan, 285 U.S. 312, 52 S.Ct. 358, 76 L.Ed. 772 (1932)23, 33
Hemi Group v. City of New York, 559 U.S. 1, 16, 130 S.Ct. 983, 175 L.Ed.2d 943 (2010)
Homier Distributing Co. Inc. v. City of Albany, 681 N.E.2d 390 (NY 1997)
Hunt-Wesson Inc. v. Franchise Tax Board of California, 528 U.S. 458, 484, 120 S.Ct. 1022, 45 L.Ed.2d 973 (2004). 34
<i>In re Dependency of Brown</i> , 149 Wash.2d 836, 841, 72 P.3d 836 (Wash. 2003)
<i>In re Estate of Big Spring</i> , 255 P.3d 121, 135 (Mont. 2011)
In re Estate of Tolson, 89 Wash.App. 21, 32, 947 P.2d 1242 (Div. 2, 1997).

<i>In re Rankin</i> , 76 Wash.2d 533, 537, 458 P.2d 176 (Wash. 1969)32
International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945)
Joe v. Marcum, 621 F.2d 358, 362 (10 th Cir. 1980)
Johnson v. Washington Dept. Of Fish and Wildlife, 175 Wash. App. 765, 772, 305 P.3d 1130 (Div. 2, 2013)
Jones v. City of Memphis, 852 F.Supp.2d 1002, 1009 (W.D. Tenn. 2012)
Jones v. Rumsford, 64 Wash.2d 559, 564, 392 P.2d 808 (Wash. 1964)21
Kennerly v. District Court, 400 U.S. 423, 481, 91 S.Ct. 480, 27 L.Ed.2d 507 (1971)
Toyosaburo Korematsu v. U.S., 323 U.S. 214, 65 S.Ct. 193, 89 L.Ed. 194 (1944)
Korematsu v. U.S., 584 F.Supp. 1406 (D.C. Cal 1984)
Lac Du Flambeau Band of Lake Superior Indians v. Zeuske, 145 F.Supp.2d 969, 979 (D.C.W.D. Wis. 2000)
Lanzce Douglass v. City of Spokane Valley, 154 Wash.App. 408, 418, 225 P.3d 448 (Div. 3, 2010)
<i>Lenca v. Employment Security</i> , 148 Wash.App. 565, 578, 200 P.3d 281 (Div. 2, 2009)
Lewis County v. Western Washington Growth Mgmt., 157 Wash.2d 488, 498 (Wash. 2006)
Mahonev v. Idaho Tax Commission, 524 P.2d 187, 191 (Idaho 1974) 14

Makah Indian Tribe v. Clallam County, 73 Wash.2d 677, 687, 440 P.2d 442 (1968)
Matheson v. Smith, 2013 WL 6816700 (9th Cir. 2013)
<i>Matter of Adoption of Buehl</i> , 87 Wash.2d 649, 555 P.2d 1234 (Wash. 1976)
<i>McClanahan v. State Tax Commission of Arizona</i> , 411 U.S. 164, 93 S.Ct. 1257, 36 L.Ed.2d 129 (1973)12, 42, 53, 59
McKenzie County Social Services Board v. V.G., 392 N.W.2d 399, 402 (N.D. 1986)
Mescalero Apache Tribe v. Jones, 411 U.S. 145, 158, 93 S.Ct. 1267, 36 L.E.2d 114 (1973)
Meyers v. Shields, 61 F. 713, 716 (N.D. Ohio 1894)
Miller Bros. v. Maryland, 347 U.S. 340, 74 S.Ct. 535, 98 L.Ed. 744 (1954)
Moe v. Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation, 425 US 463, 471, 96 S.Ct. 1634, 48 L.Ed 2d 96 (1976)24, 38
Montana v. Blackfeet Tribe of Indians, 471 U.S. 759, 765, 105 S.Ct. 2399, 85 L.Ed.2d 753 (1985)
National Federation of Independent Business v. Siebelius, 132 S.Ct. 2566, 2583, 183 L.Ed.2d 450 (2012)
North Georgia Finishing, Inc. v. Di-Chem, Inc., 419 U.S. 601, 605, 95 S.Ct 719, 42 L.Ed.2d 751 (1975)
Oklahoma Tax Commission v. Chickasaw Nation, 515 U.S. 450, 458, 115 S.Ct. 2214, 132 L.Ed.2d 400 (1995)53

Pardo v. Wilson Line of Washington, 414 F.2d 1145, 1149 (D.C. Cir. 1969).
Paul v. State Department of Revenue, 110 Wash.App. 387, 40 P.3d 1203 (Div. 1, 2002)
Pennoyer v. Neff, 95 U.S. 714, 5 Otto, 24 L.Ed. 565 (1877)
Pfeiffer v. State, 295 S.W.2d 365 (Ark 1956)
Phelps Dodge v. United Elec., 42 A.2d 453 (N.J. 1946)
<i>Pioneer Packing v. Winslow</i> , 159 Wash. 655, 664, 294 P.227 (Wash. 1930)
Polygon Corp. v. City of Seattle, 90 Wash.2d 59, 578 P.2d 1309 (1978) 12, 29
<i>Prairie Band Potawatomi Nation v. Wagnon</i> , 476 F.3d 818, 827 (10 th Cir 2007)
Preserve Our Islands v. Shorelines Hearings Board, 133 Wash.App. 503, 514, 137 P.3d 31 (Div. 1, 2006). 29
Red Earth LLC v. U.S., 657 F.3d 138 (2 nd Cir. 2011)14, 19
Riley v. New York Trust Co., 315 U.S. 343, 349, 62 S.Ct. 608, 86 L.Ed. 885 (1942)
Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wash.3d 33, 123 P.2d 844 (Wash. 2005)20
Rowe v. New Hampshire Motor Transport Ass'n, 552 U.S. 364, 377, 128 S.Ct. 989, 169 L.Ed.2d 933 (2008)
Rylander v. Bandag Licensing Corp., 18 S.W.3d 296 (Tex. 2000) 60
Schmelling v. Hoffman, 111 Wash. 408, 414, 191 P. 618 (Wash. 1920) 21

<i>SCM Group USA v. Proteck Machinery</i> , 136 Wash.App. 569, 576, 150 P.3d 141 (Div. 3, 2007)
Solis v. Matheson, 563 F.3d 425, 428 (9th Cir. 2009)
State v. Atcitty, 215 P.3d 90, 95 (New Mexico 2009)
State v. Carey, 4 Wash. 424, 427, 30 P. 729 (Wash. 1892)37
State v. 483 Cases, More of Less, of Assorted Brands of Cigarettes, 96 A.2d 568 (N.H. 1953)
State v. John, 308 P.3d 1208, 1210 (Ariz. 2013)
State v. Roy, 147 Wash.App. 309, 315, 195 P.3d 967 (Div. 3, 2008) 21
State v. WMJ Corp., 138 Wash.2d 595, 980 P.2d 1257 (Wash. 1999) 50
State Department of Ecology v. P.U.D. of Jefferson County, 121 Wash.26 179, 201, 849 P.2d 646 (Wash. 1993)
State ex rel Adams v. Superior Court for Okanogan County, 57 Wash.2d 181. 185, 356 P.2d 985 (1960). 45
State Securities v. Anderson, 506 P.2d 786 (N.M. 1973)
Security Mutual Life Co. v. Prewitt, 202 U.S. 246, 249, 26 S.Ct. 619, 50 L.Ed. 1013 (1906)
Stern v. Marshall, 131 S.Ct. 2594, 2620, 180 L.Ed.2d 475 (2011) 5, 46
Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wash.App. 76, 105, 283 P.3d 583 (Div. 3 2012)46
Terral v. Burke Const. Co., 257 U.S. 529, 42 S.Ct. 188, 189, 66 L.Ed. 352 (1922)
<i>Thompson v. Tolmie</i> , 27 U.S. 157, 162, 2 Pet. 157, 7 L.Ed 381 (1829) 37

Toomer v. Witsell, 334 U.S. 385, 406, 68 S.Ct. 1156, 92 L.Ed. 1460 (1948).
Towers v. City of Chicago, 173 F.3d 619, 624 (7th Cir. 1999)50
<i>Tracy v. Superior Court of Maricopa County,</i> 810 P.2d 1030, 1043 (Ariz. 1991)
Truax v. Corrigan, 257 U.S. 312, 327, 42 S.Ct. 124, 66 L.Ed. 254 (1921)37
Tulee v. Washington, 315 U.S. 681, 685, 62 S.Ct. 862, 86 L.Ed. 1115 (1942).
Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 533, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927) 46
<i>U.S. v. Bajakajian</i> , 524 U.S. 321, 118 S.Ct. 2028, 141 L.Ed.2d 314 (1998)
<i>U.S. v. Simchen; U.S. v. Swiger</i> , 884 F.2d 1396 (9th Cir. 1989) 14
<i>U.S. v. Washington</i> , 645 F.2d 749 (9 th Cir. 1987)
Ward v. New York, 291 F.Supp.2d 188, 207 (W.D.N.Y. 2003)
Wasden v. Native Wholesale Supply, 312 P.3d 1257, 1261 (Idaho 2013)
<i>Washington v. Confederated Tribes of Colville Reservation</i> , 447 U.S. 134, 163, 100 S.Ct. 2069, 65 L.Ed.2d 10 (1980)
Weimerskirch v. C.I.R., 596 F.2d 358 (9 th Cir. 1979)
Williams v. Lee, 358 U.S. 217, 223, 79 S.Ct. 269, 3 L.Ed.2d 251 (1959)
<i>Wilson v. Marchington</i> , 127 F.3d 805, 810 (9 th Cir. 1997)

State Statutes

RCW Ch. 4.18
RCW 19.02.07033, 61
RCW 23B.05.01033
RCW 23B.15.10061
RCW Ch. 34.05
RCW 37.12.01056
RCW 37.12.060
RCW 43.06.450
RCW 43.06.455
RCW 43.06.460
RCW 43.06.465
RCW 82.12.215
RCW 82.24.010(6)52
RCW 82.24.020(5)52
RCW 82.24.040(1)
RCW 82.24.120(2)17
RCW 82.24.250(1)
RCW 82.24.30019
RCW 82.24.510
RCW 82.24.550(3)17, 54
RCW 82.24.9009, 20, 21, 57
RCW 82.32A.020(2)17
RCW 82.32.16017
RCW 82.32.215
RCW 82.32.290(2)(a)(I)
Court Rules and Miscellaneous
CR 82.5(a)2, 28, 39
F.R.Evid. 401
H.B. 2233, 2011 c 336 § 765
Public Law 280
RAP 2.5(c)(2)
WAC 458-20-10001(2)(d)

<u>Other</u>

Robert N. Clinton "State Power over Indian Reservations: A Critical comment on Berger Court Doctrine". 26 S.D.L.Rev. 434 (1981)10
Hellerstein and Hellerstein, State Taxation, Third Ed. 2001, Thompson Reuters ¶ 6.05[1] pages 6-26, 7
Leonard W. Levy "A License to Steal" (University of North Carolina Press 1966)
Margaret A. Little "A Most Dangerous Indiscretion: The Legal, Economic, and Political Legacy of the Governments' Tobacco Litigation" 33 Conn. L. Rev. 1143 (2001)
"Where There's Smoke There's Cigarette Money", page 12 Indian Country Today, June 27, 201216

INTRODUCTION

The State Department of Revenue ordered a lifetime ban on Matheson, a tribal Indian residing on an Idaho Indian reservation. If sustained, she cannot do any business in Washington, including its 29 Indian reservations. The statute, RCW 82.32.215, enacted in 1983, has no reported decision upholding banishment. Six months before the revocation hearing was commenced, Matheson, through an affidavit, notified the Department of Revenue that she resided in Idaho on an Indian reservation. A first impression issue is whether revocation of a business license requires long arm service for in personam jurisdiction of an unincorporated reservation Indian in Idaho. Application of *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945), *Pennoyer v. Neff*, 95 U.S. 714, 5 Otto, 24 L.Ed. 565 (1877) and the new case of *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 134 S.Ct. 746 (Jan. 14, 2014) is pertinent.

Matheson, in a preamble, also explains the background of why "all the kings men" stalked her. An attached addendum contains Coeur d'Alene tribe laws cited in the brief.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

One

The administrative officer erred by finding subject matter and personal jurisdiction was acquired over Matheson. CP 38. The revocation judgment is void.

Two

The court erred by not transferring this case to the Coeur d'Alene tribal court as required by Superior Court Civil Rule 82.5(a) and *Williams v. Lee*, 358 U.S. 217, 223, 79 S.Ct. 269, 3 L.Ed.2d 251 (1959).

Three

The court erred by conducting the administrative proceeding where the State never personally served Matheson, who resided in Idaho.

Four

The administrative officer erred by conducting an administrative proceeding by a state against a citizen of a different state, thereby violating federal preemption conferring federal court jurisdiction, U.S. Const. art. III, § 2, cl. 7 (between a state and citizens of another state); art. IV, § 1, cl. 1 (judicial proceedings of every other state).

Five

The administrative officer erred by determining that a business license alone conferred in personam jurisdiction of Matheson.

Six

The administrative officer erred by violating the U.S. Constitution Art. 1, § 8, cl. 3 and Wash. Const. article 26, Second, by finding state jurisdiction to forcibly prohibit an American Indian residing on an Idaho Indian reservation from doing business in Washington.

Seven

The administrative officer erred by applying a state tax law, RCW 82.32.215 to an Indian living on an Idaho Indian reservation in violation of U.S. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 3; art. III, § 2, cl. 7, art. IV, § 1, cl. 1; § 2, cl. 1 and Wash. Const. art. 26, Second.

Eight

The administrative officer erred in finding that Matheson did business in Pierce County, CP 35, and applying RCW 82.32.215 to an Idaho resident who never did business in Washington. All physical activity within Washington's borders was in interstate or Indian commerce and no other minimum contact facts were present.

Nine

RCW 82.32.215 allows an administrative agency to revoke a business license. If revoked, it is a crime for a person to continue in business. RCW 82.32.290(2)(a)(i). The statute does not provide practical conditions to allow Matheson reinstatement. It violates the Wash. Const. art. 1, § 17 prohibiting imprisonment for debt. By barring an individual from lifetime business in Washington, the administrative officer also acted unconstitutionally in violation of Wash. Const. art. 1, § 1, 2, 3 and 17 and U.S. Const. amendment VIII as the action violated the excessive fines constitutional protections.

Ten

Assuming for argument that RCW 82.32.215 applies, the court erred by failing to except the eight Indian reservations with cigarette compacts and the 20 other reservations within Washington's boundaries as the court has no jurisdiction on Indian reservations on activity of tribal Indians.

Eleven

The presiding officer in the appeals hearing, pursuant to WA ADC 458-20-10001(d)(I) was employed by the compliance division as assistant director. The review was not heard by a disinterested judge and cannot be binding. The judicial code applies to anyone who performs judicial

functions. The code of judicial conduct CJC 1 and 2.11(A)(2)(a) and (c) require that an officer cannot preside as a judge or have more than a de minimus interest that could be affected by the proceeding. Impartiality means an open mind. *Stern v. Marshall*, 131 S.Ct. 2594, 2620, 180 L.Ed.2d 475 (2011) holds that an appointed judge who decided a constitutional issue of personal and substantive jurisdiction exceeded the separation of powers doctrine. The judgment was void. U.S. Const. art. III, § 1, Washington Const. art. 4, § 1. The trial court erred by failing to dismiss the case.

Twelve

By acting as a judge and also as a reviewing officer for the State Department of Revenue, the administrative officer violated the due process rights of Matheson. Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3, U.S. Const. amend. 5 and 14, Wash. Const. art. IV, § 6, 15, 19, 28.

Thirteen

By refusing to recognize that it was impossible that Matheson could be liable for any cigarette tax and failing to review the illegality of the tax judgment, the administrative officer and the lower court denied due process and committed reversible error.

Fourteen

By failing to recognize a mistake of fact and lack of jurisdiction and no substantial evidence was introduced in the proceedings, the lower court committed reversible error.

Fifteen

The court erred by upholding the action by the administrative review in concluding personal and subject matter jurisdiction existed by ruling that a state tax judgment supported business license revocation against Jessica Matheson, a Native American Indian living on a reservation in Idaho.

Sixteen

The court erred by refusing to examine the only reason the license was revoked to determine whether the underlying judgment causing the business license revocation was void and unenforceable.

Seventeen

The trial court erred by using a void judgment to uphold revocation of Matheson's business license.

Eighteen

The trial court erred by assuming jurisdiction in all the proceedings against Matheson where no personal service was ever made.

Nineteen

The trial court erred in entering a lifetime ban against Jessica Matheson forbidding her to do business in the state when she has never been in business or conducted any activity sufficient to give minimum state contacts necessary for jurisdiction. Traveling into a state by an Indian vehicle on a round trip is not off reservation activity allowing state jurisdiction. Minimum contact is not the criterion when infringement of tribal court jurisdiction is involved.

Twenty

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