NO. 45485-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA MAE MATHESON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

David M. Hankins Senior Counsel WSBA No. 19194 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-7084 OID No. 91027

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

The Board of Tax Appeals issued a decision upholding the Department's assessment. AR at 108-23. The Department proceeded to attempt to collect its assessment by filing a warrant for unpaid taxes pursuant to RCW 82.32.210-212. *See* AR at 336-41. Matheson does not contest that she failed to pay the tax assessment. However, Matheson spends a significant portion of her argument challenging the underlying Board of Tax Appeal's decision upholding the assessment and asserting that the cigarettes were not subject to tax. Pet. Br. at 30-37, 48-54. Res judicata bars these challenges. This doctrine prevents re-litigation of the same claim where a subsequent claim involves the same subject matter, cause of action, persons and parties, and quality of persons for or against the claim made. *In re Estate of Black*, 153 Wn.2d 152, 170, 102 P.3d 796 (2004). All of these elements are met. Matheson's attempt to challenge the underlying assessment is barred by res judicata; her only cognizable challenge in this case is to the process by which her registration certificate was revoked.¹⁰

C. The Department Properly Revoked the Registration Certificate Issued to Jessica Matheson d/b/a Jess's Wholesale.

RCW 82.32.215 provides the Department authority to revoke a registration certificate if "any warrant issued under this chapter is not paid within thirty days after it has been filed with the clerk of superior court." Once revoked, it cannot be reinstated or a new one issued, "until . . . the amount due on the warrant has been paid or provisions for payment

¹⁰ Matheson argues that she can challenge the underlying decision, because there was no "in personam jurisdiction." Pet. Br. at 31-32. Matheson submitted herself to the jurisdiction of the Department and to the Board. She voluntarily obtained a registration certificate and cigarette wholesaler license which as a condition required her to comply with the state's cigarette laws and Department's rules. AR at 40-43. When she chose not to comply with the Department's rules to report her purchases of the unstamped and untaxed cigarettes, she was served with the tax assessment and she subsequently challenged the assessment before the Board under RCW 82.03.130(a) and 82.03.190.

satisfactory to the department have been entered. . . . " RCW 82.32.215(3)(a).

1. The Department complied with its regulations revoking Jessica Matheson's registration certificate.

As directed by RCW 82.32.300, the Department has promulgated rules providing taxpayers the process for the hearing for revocation of registration certificates. *See* WAC 458-20-10001(1)-(10).¹¹ The Department adopted the brief adjudicative procedure outlined in the APA, at RCW 34.05.482-.494, to conduct these revocation hearings. Under that procedure, the Department determines whether 30 days have elapsed from the time the tax warrant was issued and filed in superior court and whether the taxpayer has not paid the assessment or made arrangements to make payments. AR at 342-43.

Matheson had already challenged the underlying tax assessment before the Department and appealed that matter to the Board of Tax Appeals. As explained above, she therefore is barred by res judicata in challenging the underlying tax assessment. Because she failed to pay the assessment, the Department properly invoked the hearing process necessary to revoke the registration certificate after it had issued the tax warrant to Jessica Matheson d/b/a Jess's Wholesale, filed the tax warrant

¹¹ Attached in the Appendix.

in Thurston County, and also filed an abstract of the judgment in Pierce County.

2. Substantial evidence supports the Department's findings of fact that Matheson was properly served notice of the hearing.

Matheson bears the burden to prove that under RCW 82.32.215 or WAC 458-20-10001 her registration certificate should not have been revoked. *See* RCW 34.05.570(1)(a) "The burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on the party assert invalidity." Under the APA, the court reviews the findings of fact of the agency decision maker, and not findings entered in the initial order. *Galvis v. Dep't of Transp.*, 140 Wn. App. 693, 709, 167 P.3d 584 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1041 (2008). Matheson must assign error to the Department's findings of fact; otherwise the court treats such findings as verities on appeal. *Id*. Matheson fails to assign error to any of the Department's findings of fact.

The administrative law judge found that the Department issued a tax warrant against Jessica Matheson d/b/a Jess's Wholesale on September 29, 2009. AR at 20 (FOF 2), 336-38. On January 11, 2010, the Department filed the tax warrant with the Thurston County Superior Court, which entered it as a judgment. AR at 20 (FOF 4), 339-41. An abstract of the judgment was filed in Pierce County, the last known business address for Jess's Wholesale. AR at 20 (FOF 5), 340-41.

Although the Department was successful in executing on her cigarette wholesaler's performance bond, which she was required to obtain upon receiving a cigarette wholesaler license; this amount did not satisfy the tax assessment. Matheson failed to pay the outstanding obligation. AR at 20 (FOF 7). Under RCW 82.32.215, upon waiting the statutorily required 30 days after the warrant was filed with the clerk of the court, the Department proceeded to initiate the process to revoke Matheson's registration certificate. AR at 20 (FOF 7).

On February 21, 2012, the Department mailed the Notice of Revocation hearing to Matheson and her representative, Mr. Robert Kovacevich. AR at 20 (FOF 7), 342-44. The Department mailed the notice of hearing to Matheson first-class to the address listed with the Department on her registration and license application as 7403 Pacific Hwy. E. Milton, WA. *Id.* Mr. Kovacevich indicated at the initial certificate of registration revocation hearing that Ms. Matheson's father allowed her to use that address, which was his address, for her business. AR at 327. Additionally, the Department faxed the notice of the revocation hearing to Mr. Kovacevich. AR at 345.

Matheson appears to argue that the Department lacked jurisdiction to revoke the registration certificate because of improper service. Pet. Br. at 21. "Jurisdiction to hear a case is subject to review; if no jurisdiction

exists the proceedings are null and void . . . holds that defective service in the first case allows reconsideration." She also argues that "state officials have no jurisdiction on Indian reservations either to serve process or to enforce a state judgment." Pet. Br. at 43.¹² To the extent Matheson attempts to argue that she was not properly served the tax warrant, RCW 34.05.554 bars such argument, because she did not raise this issue before the agency nor has she demonstrated that any of the exceptions under RCW 34.05.554 apply. "Issues not raised before the agency may not be raised on appeal...." RCW 34.05.554(1) (with exceptions not applicable here). *See also Wells v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 100 Wn. App. 657, 675-76, 997 P.2d 405 (2000) ("It is clear that a party seeking to challenge an agency's decision on a particular issue at the superior court level must have raised the issue before the agency.")

Even if RCW 34.05.554 did not bar Matheson's argument that she was not properly served the notice of hearing revoking her registration certificate, substantial evidence supports the Department's findings and conclusions that she *was* properly served notice of the hearing. Contrary to her assertion that she had to be personally served with the notice, the

¹² For off reservation conduct, purchasing cigarettes in Spokane, the state could enter the reservation for process service. *See Nevada v. Hicks*, 533 U.S. 353, 364-66, 121 S. Ct. 2304, 150 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2001) (state officials were not barred from entering Indian reservation to execute a search warrant against a tribal member for violating law occurring outside the reservation.); *See also, State v. Clark*, 178 Wn.2d 19, 24, 308 P.3d 590 (2013).

Department's rules provide for service of notices by mail. *See* WAC 458-20-10001(5). The governing statute provides for service by mail: under RCW 82.32.130, if a notice is mailed, it must be addressed "to the address of the taxpayer as shown by the records of the department" The APA also authorizes service by mail. *See* RCW 34.05.010(19); *see also Diehl v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 153 Wn.2d 207, 215-16, 103 P.3d 193 (2004) (holding that civil rules apply only where specifically authorized and do not apply under RCW 34.05.542 or 34.05.010). Accordingly, Matheson did not have a right to be personally served with the notice of hearing.

Under the Department's rules, when Matheson obtained a certificate of registration she was bound to comply with the rules and procedures for the revocation of the certificate. WAC 458-20-10001. The Department mailed the notice to the address listed on file in Milton, Washington. AR at 20 (FOF 7). The revenue agent who issued the notice of hearing indicated that on the Department's records, address changes were noted on four different occasions, but there had been no change to the business address for service. AR at 137. Further, in checking the Department's records, that business address was the same address she gave for the service address on her Cigarette Wholesale Dealer Proper Performance Bond. AR at 137. Additionally, her representative was

provided notice of the hearing. AR at 344-45. He not only appeared at the hearing, but provided written and oral argument, including filing an appeal to the Department's appeal division.

Matheson also argues that the Department should have known to use her address in Idaho to send her any notices, because she filed an affidavit in Thurston County Superior Court regarding her appeal of the Board of Tax Appeals decision. Pet. Br. at 26-27. However, that affidavit specifically states that her address for her license to operate as a cigarette wholesaler was the Pacific Highway address in Milton, WA: "My location for license contact on the Puyallup Indian Reservation is 7403 Pacific Highway East, Milton, WA. 98534." AR at 47-48. The Department properly provided her notice of the hearing and did not violate her due process rights. She was provided due process.

D. Jessica Matheson's Status As An Enrolled Member Of An Indian Tribe Does Not Affect The Applicability Of The Certificate Of Registration Revocation Statute Or Hearing Process.

Despite the fact that Matheson voluntarily applied for and obtained a Washington registration certificate and license to operate as a cigarette wholesaler, voluntarily subjecting herself to state authority related to the certificate and license, she makes a number of arguments that her status as

an Indian exempts her from any state regulation or authority. All of her arguments lack merit.

1. Matheson's status as an Indian has no legal bearing in this case.

Matheson asserts that she had a constitutional right "to be free of state licensing laws," and RCW 82.32.215 does not apply to her because she is a "tribal Indian" and resident of Idaho. Pet. Br. at 38-39.

But she was not required to apply for a registration certificate or cigarette wholesaler license. The state did not compel her to engage in the cigarette business. It is a verity on appeal that she voluntarily applied for a registration certificate and a cigarette wholesaler license. AR at 40-43, 46. Once she obtained these documents, she could purchase and transport untaxed, unstamped cigarettes. She does not contest that her license was used to purchase 703,400 packs of cigarettes from two Spokane,

Washington licensed wholesalers.

Well-established federal and state authority establishes that Indians coming off the reservation are subject to the authority and regulations of the state, including payment of taxes.¹³ *Mescalero Apache Tribe v. Jones*,

¹³ Contrary to Matheson's assertion in her "Preamble to Argument" section that "States have never had jurisdiction over Native American Indians who reside on their reservation," the state can exercise some criminal and civil jurisdiction <u>on an Indian reservation</u> for certain actions, i.e., compulsory school attendance, public assistance, and operation of a motor vehicle, to name a few. *See* RCW 37.12.010; *State v. Clark*, 178 Wn.2d 19, 24, 308 P.3d 590 (2013).

411 U.S. 145, 148-49, 93 S. Ct. 1267, 36 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1973) ("Absent express federal law to the contrary, Indians going beyond reservation boundaries have generally been held subject to non-discriminatory state law otherwise applicable to all citizens of the State."); See also Bercier v. Kiga, 127 Wn. App. 809, 818, 103 P.3d 232 (2004) (member of Fort Peck Tribe in Montana operating a smoke shop business on the Puyallup reservation held not exempt from cigarette and tobacco taxes.)

In conjunction with her arguments that she was exempt from the Department's tax collection because she is an Indian, Matheson argues that the case should have been transferred to tribal court, pursuant to CR 82.5(a). Pet. Br. at 39. First, the Court can disregard this argument as Matheson failed to raise this argument before the Department. *See* RCW 34.05.554. Second, it is not clear which "case" she refers to, the collection of the tax, the license revocation proceeding, or the judicial review of the Department's decision. Even if the Court were to examine her argument, it lacks merit because CR 82.5 does not apply.

The rule applies to actions filed in superior court, where a federal law exclusively provides jurisdiction to an Indian tribal court. The rule in part states:

Where an action is brought in the superior court of any county of this state, and where, under the Laws of the United States, exclusive jurisdiction over the matter in controversy has been granted or reserved to an Indian tribal court. . ..

CR 82.5(a).

Matheson fails to cite any laws of the United States that granted or reserved to an Indian tribal court exclusive jurisdiction (or any jurisdiction) to review state tax collection, license revocation proceedings or judicial reviews of proceedings like this one. None exist in this case.

Regardless of Matheson's status as an Indian or her residency, by voluntarily applying for and obtaining a Washington registration certificate and license to operate as a cigarette wholesaler in Washington, she made herself subject to the jurisdiction and authority of the State of Washington.

2. The Board of Tax Appeals found Matheson conducted business outside Indian country.

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